MASTER CONTRACT

Barnstead Educational Support Team AFT-NH, AFT Local 6332, AFL-CIO

and

Barnstead School Board

July 1, 2022 - June 30, 2024

Approved: March 19, 2022

Table of Contents

Article 1	Definitions	3
Article 2	Recognition	4
Article 3	Jurisdiction and Authority of the Board	4
Article 4	Union Rights	4
Article 5	Negotiations Procedure	5
Article 6	Employee Rights	6
Article 7	Probationary Period	7
Article 8	Work Year/Day and Assignments	8
Article 9	Working Conditions	9
Article 10	Vacancies, Transfers and Promotions	9
Article 11	Compensation	10
Article 12	Benefits	12
Article 13	Leaves	14
Article 14	Extended Leaves of Absence	17
Article 15	Grievance Procedure	18
Article 16	Seniority and Reduction in Force	20
Article 17	Conformity to Law and Savings Clause	21
Article 18	Duration	21
Appendix A	Dues Deduction Form	22
Appendix B	Intent to Re-Employ and Contract	23
Appendix B-1	Confidential Notice of 1 on 1 Assignment	24
Appendix C	Salary Schedule	25
Appendix D	Evaluation Plan	26

ARTICLE 1 Definitions

1.1 Definitions

The following list of terms will be used frequently in this agreement and when they are used they will refer to the definitions described below unless otherwise stipulated:

- 1. The term "school" means any work location or functional division maintained by the Board where instruction is offered to the children enrolled in the Barnstead School District.
- 2. The term "employee" means a person included in the bargaining unit.
- 3. The term "Board" means the Barnstead School Board or any of its agents.
- 4. The term "Union" means the Barnstead Educational Support Team, AFT-NH, AFT Local #6332, AFL-CIO.
- 5. The term "Principal" means the individual contracted to be the responsible administrative head of the Barnstead Elementary School.
- 6. The term "Parties" means the Barnstead School Board and the Barnstead Educational Support Team.

7. Employee Categories:

a. <u>Category #1</u>: Full-time personnel working minimum of eight hours per day (40 hours a week) for 52 weeks.

See sidebar

- b. <u>Category #2</u>: Personnel working a minimum of six hours daily (30 hours a week) for 180 days or more. Any employee employed during the 2009-2010 school year who is working at least 26 hours per week for at least 180 days and has been provided benefits as a Category #2 employee will continue to do so.
- c. *Category* #3: All other part-time personnel.
- 8. *Para I*: A professional who is certified or will become certified within one year from the date of hire by the NHDOE as a Para I.
- 9. <u>Para II:</u> A para-educator who is certified by the NHDOE as a Para II.

ARTICLE 2 Recognition

2.1 The Board recognizes the Barnstead Educational Support Team, AFT-NH, AFT Local #6332, AFL-CIO for purposes of collective negotiations according to RSA 273-A as the exclusive representative of all full and part-time employees in the following classifications; para-educators, Title I reading tutors, food service staff, custodians, secretary, receptionist/secretary, sped secretary, behavior planning supervisor, and office manager of the Barnstead School District as certified by the New Hampshire Public Employee Labor Relations Board decision number 2006-071.

2.2 New Positions

If any new employee position is created during the life of this Agreement and the parties cannot mutually agree on its inclusion in the bargaining unit, either party may request a clarification and determination from the New Hampshire Public Employee Labor Relations Board per the guidelines of RSA 273-A.

ARTICLE 3 Jurisdiction and Authority of Board

3.1 It is understood and agreed that the Board retains all rights, responsibilities, and prerogatives not specifically modified by this Agreement.

ARTICLE 4 Union Rights

- 4.1 All employees shall have the right to full freedom of association and selforganization and shall be free from restraint, coercion, interference, discrimination or reprisals by the Board by reason of membership in the Union or participation in any of its activities or exercise of individual rights under RSA 273-A.
- 4.2 The Union has the right to use the school building at reasonable hours for meetings, with advance request to the Principal/ Administration.
- 4.3 Representatives of the Union and their affiliates shall be permitted to transact Union business on school property at times that do not conflict with the school day schedule.
- 4.4 The Union and its representatives shall have the right to use school facilities and equipment, including computers, copy machines and other equipment at reasonable times, with advance request, when such equipment is not otherwise in use as specified by the Principal. The Union will assume the cost of consumable materials.

- 4.5 The Board agrees to provide space on existing bulletin boards in convenient places in each work area, to be used by the Union. The Union agrees to maintain such bulletin boards in a neat and orderly condition.
- 4.6 The Union shall be given sufficient time on the agenda of the beginning of the year staff meeting to explain Union activities. The Union shall be given one hour on the agenda of the beginning of the year staff meeting to explain Union activities either to all employees and/or new hires specifically. The Union shall also be provided at least a half-hour for the Union President or designee to meet with new employees during the school year.
- 4.7 The Union shall be credited with a sum total of three (3) days of paid leave per year to be used by employees who are officers or agents of the Union as determined by the Union President for the purpose of attending seminars, conventions and other union related business. Days may be utilized in half-day increments. The Principal will be notified within reasonable time prior to the commencement of such leave.
- 4.8 The Union President or designee shall be allowed to receive telephone calls and emails as reasonable during the work day.
- 4.9 Upon receipt of a standing request, the Union is entitled to a copy of School Board agendas and minutes which shall be made available by delivery to the attention of President, Barnstead Educational Support Team, Barnstead, NH.
- 4.10 The Board agrees to deduct Union dues in equal payments when properly notified by the Union by means of a signed authorization form (Appendix A) for each unit employee so desiring such deduction. Such deduction authorization will be continued each year thereafter unless notification is received from the employee in writing by the Board and the Union between June 1st and June 30th in any year. The Board also agrees to forward any and all such funds to the Treasurer of the Union on a monthly basis along with a record of such deductions.

<u>ARTICLE 5</u> Negotiations Procedure

- 5.1 All collective bargaining shall be conducted between members of the School Board and/or its designees and designated representatives of the Union.
- 5.2 The Board will furnish the Union upon request such information as is needed to make reasonable proposals and such other information as will assist the Union in developing constructive proposals and programs on behalf of the Union.

- All meetings with Board representatives for the purpose of negotiations shall be held at mutually agreeable times. Up to five (5) union representatives shall be granted release time with pay for negotiating on behalf of the Union during agreed upon bargaining sessions.
- 5.4 Personnel policies, practices and matters which affect mandatory subjects of bargaining shall not be changed or implemented without prior negotiations.
- Any agreement reached shall be reduced in writing and be signed by the Board and the Union after ratification by the voters. A copy of the Agreement shall be filed with the New Hampshire Public Employee Labor Relations board within fourteen (14) days of the signing. The Union shall be responsible, within thirty (30) days of the signing, for publication of the Agreement in booklet form and distribution of the Agreement to the Union and providing requisite copies to the Board. The Board shall be responsible for providing copies of the Agreement to newly hired employees.
- While terms of this agreement have been a product of good faith negotiations, both parties recognize the fact that funds negotiated in this agreement must be appropriated by the District. Any agreement reached which requires the expenditure of such funds for its implementation shall not be binding on the school board, unless and until the appropriations have been made by the voters of the District.

The School Board shall make a good faith effort to secure the funds necessary to implement said agreements. If the school board proposed budget for the implementation of this agreement is not approved, negotiations may be reopened.

ARTICLE 6 Employee Rights

- An administrator may meet with an employee at any time to investigate an incident. The employee may have a Union representative present at any investigatory interview or any meeting where discipline or adverse evaluation may result. When a request for representation by an employee is made, no further action shall be taken with respect to the employee until such representative of the Union is present. No employee will be discharged or reduced in compensation without due process.
- 6.2 Discipline shall be administered in a fair, consistent and reasonable manner and shall not be issued without just cause. Discipline shall be defined as discharge, non-renewal, or reprimand (oral or written). This standard does not apply to a probationary employee.
- 6.3 In the event of written warning, suspension, non-renewal or dismissal, the District will state in writing to the employee, the reasons for action

taken. A copy of said disciplinary action shall be handed to or delivered to the employee within twenty-four (24) hours of the action or by the close of the next regularly scheduled business day, whichever shall occur later.

- 6.4 Each employee shall be entitled to access his/her personnel file at any time upon notice to the Superintendent or his/her designee. The employee may, if he/she wishes, have a representative of the Union accompany him/her during such review. Other examination of an employee's files shall be limited to qualified supervisory personnel
- 6.5 The employee shall have the right to make a response to any material contained in his/her personnel file, and such response shall be made part of said employee's file. Reproductions of such material may be made by hand or copying machine, if available. No material will be placed in an employee's personnel file without written notification to the employee. Complaints that are unsubstantiated shall not be put in an employee's personnel file.
- An employee shall be notified of any complaint regarding that employee made to any member of the administration by a parent, student or other person. A complaint which may result in an addition to the employee's personnel file shall be promptly investigated within thirty (30) school days. The employee shall have an opportunity to respond in writing and all such responses shall be attached to all copies of any written complaints in all filed copies.
- 6.7 Evaluations shall be done in accordance with the Barnstead School District and B.E.S.T. Evaluation Plan (Appendix D). An evaluation committee with equal representation from the administration and union shall meet at least once annually to review the plan and recommend any changes to the plan to the parties.

ARTICLE 7 Probationary Period

- 7.1 The first sixty (60) calendar days of regular employment on an uninterrupted basis shall be the probationary period.
- 7.2 The District may terminate a newly hired person from employment within the probationary period. Terminations under this Article shall not be grievable.

ARTICLE 8 Work Day and Year

- 8.1 The work year for Category #2 and #3 except the secretary/receptionist position employees shall be no more than 185 days and no less than 180 days. Required non-school work days shall be within one week of the beginning or end of the school year. The secretary/receptionist position may be required to work an additional twenty (20) days in the summer. In the event of a cancelled school day which is not made up by the District, or in the event of unanticipated early release or delayed opening, the employees shall suffer no loss in pay. On scheduled early release days, employees shall suffer not loss in pay from their regular work day. On these early release days, the District will schedule professional development and/or allow employees to perform work related tasks such as billing and other documentation which is necessary for their job assignment.
- 8.2 No employee or position shall have hours reduced for the purpose of making that employee or position ineligible for benefits.
- 8.3 The current practice regarding lunch and breaks shall remain in effect. Duties shall be assigned on an equitable and fair basis in terms of number and nature of assignments.
- All employees shall be granted the following holidays, to be taken on the day observed by the District, with pay. Employees shall receive the employee's regular daily rate of pay.

Category #1 Employees:

New Year's Day indigenous People's Day Civil Rights Day Memorial Day Independence Day Labor Day Veteran's Day Thanksgiving Day Day after Thanksgiving Christmas Day

Category #2 and #3 Employees:

Civil Rights Day Thanksgiving Day Christmas Day Memorial Day Veteran's Day Day after Thanksgiving

- 8.5 Supervisors shall meet with the employee not later than May 15th to discuss the employee's current assignment and anticipated assignment for the upcoming year.
- 8.6 Para-educators shall be notified no later than June 1st of their specific assignment for the upcoming year on the Intent to Re-Employ Form. (Appendix B) Specific assignment means the grade level, child (for 1:1's), and case manager. All employees will have their supervisor designated by the employer within their individual contracts upon the issuance of the contracts.

The District shall have the right to change the specific assignment after June 1st if necessary to meet the District's unanticipated or unforeseeable needs and the unanticipated or unforeseeable needs of its students. If a change is necessary, the employee will be notified as soon as possible and there shall be a meeting between the Union, affected para-educator and Administration at which time the Administration shall explain the unanticipated and unforeseen needs triggering the need for a change in assignment.

8.7 The Administration shall be responsible for arranging for coverage for employees and for duties assigned to employees when they are on an excused absence or attending to other required responsibilities such as attendance on field trips.

ARTICLE 9 Working Conditions

- 9.1 The employer shall follow NH Department of Labor standards and the OSHA standards.
- 9.2 Employees shall not be required to use personal equipment on school premises.
- 9.3 No employee shall be required to dispense or administer medication or provide treatment to a student unless they have received the necessary training and have received certification, if applicable, or other documentation of the training.
- 9.4 Unless required by an IEP, para-educators shall not be required to place or remove children into/from vehicles during drop-off and pick-up times.

ARTICLE 10 Vacancies, Transfers and Promotions

10.1 A vacancy shall be defined as any newly created position or a present position that is not filled within the District. There will be a job description for each position.

10.2 Posting of Positions

As soon as a vacancy exists within the District, the superintendent will post notice of the vacancy in each work location. Additionally, notification will be given to the President of the Union, or his/her designee.

This vacancy notice will include the job title and the requirements for the position. Posting of positions will remain on display for at least five work days.

Current employees may request a transfer to said position. Employees from within the unit who are qualified and apply in accordance with the terms of a posting shall be considered and given an opportunity to interview for the vacancy.

10.3 Involuntary transfers of employees will be minimized and avoided if possible although it shall be the ultimate decision of the superintendent who shall establish both staffing levels and placement of personnel. Prior to making any involuntary transfers, the employee's qualifications and professional development goals shall be considered.

ARTICLE 11 Compensation

- 11.1 Subject to approval of the NH Department of Labor, school year employees may elect to be paid in 23 or 26 equal payments with a reconciliation in the last pay period of June. In order to elect equal payments, the employee must agree to reimburse the District if the employee leaves employment for any reason prior to the end of a school year and has been overpaid.
- 11.2 Effective July 1, 2022 all existing bargaining unit members will be paid in accordance with Appendix C. Newly hired employees shall be placed on the compensation schedule in <u>Appendix C</u> based on directly applicable experience, provided that no new employee will be paid more than an existing employee with equivalent years of experience. Employees on steps 1 through 9 will advance one step on the compensation schedule effective July 1 of each year of this Agreement. In order to advance a step an employee must have worked at least one half (1/2) of the previous work year. Use of paid leave will count as time worked for purposes of this article only. Once an employee has reached the top step of the compensation schedule, his/her compensation will increase by the amounts listed on Appendix C effective July 1 of each subsequent year of this Agreement:
- 11.3 Time and one half will be paid for all hours authorized by the administration and worked over forty (40) hours in one week.

- 11.4 Employees will be eligible to apply for reimbursement for courses, workshops or seminars that will enhance their knowledge and skills for their current positions. Requests for approval shall be made in advancement of a class, workshop or seminar to the appropriate Approval unreasonably administrator. may not be Reimbursement shall be made upon the provision of evidence of successful completion of the course, workshop or seminar. The Board shall establish an account in the amount of \$1,750 per contract year to finance this reimbursement program. Funds will be made available on a first-come, first-serve basis based upon the date of approval.
- 11.5 Employees having completed a minimum of ten (10) years of consecutive service to the Barnstead School District shall receive an annual longevity amount, based on the chart below, on or before December 1st. For purposes of longevity payment, years of service are calculated as of July 1 of each year.

Employee Category	<u>#1</u>	<u>#2</u>	<u>#3</u>
10 years Longevity Amount 15-19 years Longevity Amount 20+ years Longevity Amount	\$600 \$1300 \$1500	\$500 \$1200 \$1400	\$250 \$900 \$1100
Effective July 1, 2023 Employee Category	#1	#2	#3
10 years Longevity Amount	\$700	\$600	\$300
15-19 years Longevity Amount	\$1500	\$1400	\$1000
20+ years Longevity Amount	\$1750	\$1650	\$1350

- 11.6 If a para-educator is assigned to substitute for a teacher, the paraeducator shall be compensated, in addition to his/her regular rate of pay, at the rate of at least five dollars (\$5.00) per hour for any portion of an hour after the first hour. If the substitution or coverage extends beyond an hour, the para-educator will be paid in fifteen (15) minutes increments based on the \$5.00 per hour rate. {Note: For example, a paraeducator who subs for two (2) hours, the para-educator would receive an additional ten dollars (\$10.00). Time calculated in this provision shall be cumulative and not consecutive, and assignment to substitute positions will not be managed to avoid application of this provision.
- 11.7 Employees who are required by their supervisor to use private automobiles for school-related business shall be reimbursed at the current IRS mileage rate.
- 11.8 All committees will be recommended by the Principal and approved by the School Board. The Union will be provided a list of current approved committees at the start of each school year. When a new committee is being formed, the Union Leadership, the Principal, and the

Superintendent shall work collaboratively to define the responsibilities of the committee, estimate the level of time and effort, and determine a recommended compensation for each member.

BEST members participating in committee work shall be compensated based on the recommendation presented by the principal and approved by the board to be paid in two equal installments: the first pay period in December and the last pay period in June. BEST members shall have equal opportunities to serve on committees. Committee assignments are voluntary, during the school year, and equitable among members of the bargaining unit.

ARTICLE 12 Benefits

12.1 Medical Insurance:

The Board shall provide a health benefit plan for employees of the bargaining unit after thirty (30) calendar days of employment. The schedule of benefits will be substantially comparable to the AB20 Rx10/20/45 medical and hospital benefits presently currently offered by NH Health Trust:

BC3T5RDR-R\$3/15M\$1** AB 20 Rx10/20/45 Lumenos 2500/5000

** This plan is only available for employees enrolled in the plan during the 2015-16 contract year.

The District contribution towards any eligible plan will be based on the AB20 Rx10/20/45 premiums.

- 12.2 For Category #1 employees, the District shall pay ninety percent (90%) of the premium cost of the AB20 single plan or eighty-five percent (85%) of the premium cost of the AB20 two person or family plan. The employee shall be responsible for the remainder through payroll deductions.
- 12.3 For Category #2 employees, the District shall pay eighty-five percent (85%) of the AB20 single plan. The employee shall be responsible for the remainder through payroll deductions. If the employee elects two-person or family coverage, he/she will be responsible for the additional premium until he/she meets eligibility for District contribution as follows:

For Category #2 employees employed by the District prior to July 1, 2014 who have worked for the District for more than three (3) years with less than a break of two years of service provided the break was an approved leave of absence with a stated intention to return on an approximate date, the District shall pay seventy-five (75%) of the premium cost of the

AB20 two-person or family plan. The employee shall be responsible for the remainder through payroll deductions.

Category #2 employees employed by the District on or after July 1, 2014 who have worked for the District for five (5) or more years with less than a two (2) year break in service, provided the break in service was an approved leave of absence with a stated intention to return on an approximate date, the District shall pay seventy-five percent (75%) of the cost of the AB20 two-person or family plan. The employee shall be responsible for any additional premium through payroll deduction.

- 12.4 Category #3 employees shall be entitled to enroll in the district medical insurance at their own expense and subject to the insurer's permission provided the employee pays the premium to the district by the tenth (10th) of the month prior to the month of coverage. This coverage will be provided as long as inclusion of the Category #3 employee's participation in the group does not jeopardize health insurance coverage for any Barnstead School District and/or SAU #86 employees based on Health Trust participation requirements. The Union shall be informed in advance of any issues regarding continued participation of Category #3 employees.
- 12.5(a) The District shall contribute \$500 annually to the Health Trust Health Care Flexible Spending Account (FSA) to non-probationary employees who do not qualify for employer contributions to health insurance. Upon completion of probationary period, a pro-rated amount shall be contributed to the employee's account. Employees may contribute an additional \$500 to this account. Any portion of this account not spent by the employee on an annual basis will be forfeited by the employee except however the district will exercise the option available under the plan for the extended reimbursement deadline. Should an employee terminate employment with the District, benefit costs will only be covered through the date of termination.
- 12.5(b) Any employee receiving an FSA contribution in 2015-16 who elects to continue to participate in the FSA will receive an annual payment in the gross amount of \$500 in the final payroll of June, subject to standard payroll withholdings.
- 12.6 For insurance eligibility, the employee's date of hire under the BEST contract shall be utilized. The District shall note the date that an employee becomes eligible for insurance on his/her appointment letter.
- 12.7 The District shall maintain the Section 125 plan.
- 12.8 Employees who are eligible for employer contributions to health insurance and who show proof of otherwise being covered by a health insurance plan will be eligible for compensation in lieu of the District's health plan. Category #1 employees receive \$1,500. Category #2

employees shall receive \$1,000. The compensation will be pro-rated and added to each pay check.

- 12.9 Employees who waive their entitlement to District health insurance and then have a qualifying event that requires them to access the District's plan shall reimburse the District on a pro rata basis.
- 12.10 The Union and the Board agree to form a committee to evaluate health coverage options which provide appropriate health coverage for the District's employees and that are as cost effective as possible.

The Committee shall be comprised of 6 members, three (3) appointed by the Board and three (3) appointed by the Union.

The Committee shall meet as frequently as it deems necessary to evaluate health coverage options available to the District and to make a recommendation to the parties' negotiating committees whether or not the current health care coverage selected by the District should be modified. Said recommendation shall be made on or before December 1st of each year of the contract.

In the event the recommendation of the Committee is approved by the Board, Union Membership and the Negotiating Committees and, to the extent necessary, is adopted by the voters of the District, the parties herein agree to modify this collective bargaining agreement as soon as possible.

- 12.11 <u>Dental Insurance</u>: The Board shall provide at no cost to an employee who is qualified for employer contributions to the District's health insurance plan, a single person plan for the Health Trust Dental Plan Option 1A. The employee shall have the option to purchase the two-person or family plan at the employee's expense. This contribution is required by the Health Trust.
- 12.12 The District agrees to make available, at the employee's own expense, AFLAC insurance programs.
- 12.13 Employees working 35 hours per week shall participate in the NH Retirement System.

ARTICLE 13 Leaves

13.1 Employees will have paid sick leave days per year which may be used for the illness or injury of the employee or members of the employee's immediate family, or any other proper FMLA purpose. Category #1 and #2 employees shall be allowed to accumulate sick leave to sixty (60) days. Category #3 employees shall be allowed to accumulate sick leave

to twenty (20) days. Category #3 employees may use up to two (2) days a year of sick leave for non-medical emergency purposes.

Sick days will be earned at the rate of one day per month. Employees may have immediate access to sick days earned or eligible to be earned for the current year, but if terminated or resigns before they have accumulated the adequate number of days that were used, days not accumulated but taken will be deducted from their final pay.

- Any employee on sick leave is entitled to the benefits that they would have if not on sick leave. The Board at its sole discretion may extend paid sick leave benefits beyond the employee's accumulated days if an unusual circumstance exists.
- Paid personal leave shall be granted for employees for personal affairs which cannot be accomplished outside of school hours. Category #1 employees shall be granted four (4) days per year. Category #2 employees shall be granted two (2) days per year. Application to the employee's principal or other immediate supervisor shall be made at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance except in case of emergencies. The applicant shall not be required to state the reasons for taking such leaves unless the requested day falls on the day before, or after, a school vacation (including summer) or holiday. Such days may be granted with prior approval of the Superintendent or designee.
- 13.4 Each employee will be entitled to three (3) days leave at full salary in the event of the death of an employee's immediate family member which includes but not limited to spouse, child, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, parent, father-in-law, mother-in-law, grandparent or other significant individual if approved by the Administration. The administration may at its discretion grant additional days.
- 13.5 Eligible Employees will be entitled to benefits as provided in the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, PL 103-3, and any subsequent amendments. A full copy of FMLA will be available in each building.
- 13.6 All unpaid leaves of absence without pay must be requested in writing to the Superintendent prior to the leave being taken. The Superintendent, at his sole discretion, may grant unpaid leave based on the individual merits of the request and the needs of the District. Employees who take unpaid leave without permission may be subject to appropriate disciplinary measures.
- 13.7 Category #1 employees shall accrue vacation benefits based on the following years of service:
 - 1-4 years .833 days per month cumulative to 10 days
 - 5-9 years 1.25 days per month cumulative to 15 days

10+ years	1.667 days per month cumulative to 20 days
20+ years	2.084 days per month cumulative to 25 days

Vacation may be utilized after six (6) month of employment. Requests for vacation time must be made to the employee's principal or immediate supervisor in advance and must be approved. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

Employees who move from Category #2 or #3 to Category #1 will be credited with accrued service, pro-rated accordingly, to the district in order to determine vacation accrual amount.

13.8 Catastrophic Sick Leave Bank

13.8.1 The Board agrees to establish a sick leave bank to cover bargaining unit members in the event of a catastrophic illness or disability. A catastrophic illness or disability is a severe condition or combination of conditions affecting the mental or physical health of the employee that requires the services of a licensed practitioner for a prolonged period of time and that forces the employee to exhaust all leave time earned by that employee and to be placed in an unpaid leave status. Such conditions typically require in-patient hospitalization or are expected to result in disability or death.

The sick leave bank shall be administered by a committee composed of two (2) bargaining unit members appointed by the Union and two (2) members appointed by the School Board and/or Administration, hereinafter called the Sick Bank Review Committee.

- 13.8.2 The sick bank rotation list shall consist of names placed in the order employees first join the bank. New enrollees, after contributing one day, are added to the bottom of the list. New enrollees who join the bank on the same day shall be placed on the list in alphabetical order.
- 13.8.3 To join the sick leave bank, a bargaining unit member must sign a Sick Bank Membership Form by September 15th of each year and shall donate one (1) day from the days he/she receives in a one-year period to be deposited in said bank, such day to be deducted from the member's annual sick leave in the second pay period in October. The Sick Bank Review Committee will provide the SAU office with a copy of all membership forms as well as the current rotation list by October 1st.

The days in the bank may accumulate up to ninety (90) days. When the bank reaches the maximum accumulation only new enrollees need to contribute to the bank. These days in excess of the maximum shall be placed in reserve. Up to thirty (30) days left in reserve at the end of the school year shall be allowed to exceed the maximum accumulation for the following contract year at the end of which the excess days shall be

lost if not used. They shall neither continue to be held in reserve nor restored to the enrollee.

- 13.8.4 A member becomes eligible to request benefits from the sick leave bank if suffering from a catastrophic illness or disability provided he/she has exhausted all of his/her accrued sick leave. Said member may request up to twenty-five (25) days per school year. [Added per 2019 MOU]
- 13.8.5 The request to use the sick leave bank shall be submitted in writing with supportive medical documentation to the Sick Bank Review Committee. The committee will determine whether or not, in its judgment, the member qualifies to use the sick leave bank. If a majority of the Sick Bank Review Committee has determined that the member qualifies to use the sick bank, it will submit its findings and recommendation to the Superintendent, who will release the days for use by the member. The decisions of the Sick Bank Review Committee shall be final and shall not be subject to the grievance procedures contained in Article 15.
- 13.8.6 When the days are drawn on the Sick Bank, the sick days held in reserve shall be used to restore the Sick Bank to its maximum of ninety (90) days. If the bank falls below the maximum accumulation, participants must contribute one of their sick days in second pay period in October. Those days will be held to replenish the Sick Bank at the close of the school year in June, beginning with the top of the rotation list, until the Sick Bank is restored to the maximum allowed. Those contributing individuals will then be placed at the bottom of the rotation list. An accounting of the sick bank accrued and used days will be sent to the SAU office no later than June 1st of each year.
- 13.9 BEST members who have completed at least fifteen (15) years of service to the district may choose one of the following options for their retirement year:
 - 1) 50% of their total accumulated sick leave days up to a maximum of 30 days at the rate of \$37.50/day.
 - 2) \$37.50 times the number of years that the BEST member has served the District in a category in this Master Agreement.

BEST members must notify the Superintendent of their intent to retire by November 1st of the prior year. Payment shall be made by June 30th of the retirement year up to the amount allowable by law to be calculated as part of final compensation by NHRS without triggering any penalty to the District. Any remainder shall be paid to the BEST member in a single payment within thirty (30) days of the deadline for the NHRS calculation of final compensation.

ARTICLE 14 Extended Leaves of Absence

14.1 In addition to any FMLA leave to which an employee may be entitled, an employee shall be granted child-rearing/maternity leave without pay upon the birth or adoption of a child upon written request to the Administration given at least sixty (60) days prior to the anticipated birth/adoption date. An employee on leave shall return at the beginning of a school year, provided that the total leave, including any FMLA leave, does not exceed 20 months. An employee may return to work earlier than the start of the school year at the discretion of the School Board.

During the time that an employee is on such unpaid leave, the employee shall be entitled to remain eligible for participation in all District fringe benefit programs, provided they shall be at the sole expense of the employee except as otherwise provided by FMLA. Employees shall not accrue service creditable for pay, benefits, or seniority during such leave.

- 14.2 Employees who are called for jury duty or who are in the military reserve and who are called to active duty in the United States military services which cannot be postponed or deferred, will be compensated for such absence from their contract duty to the District to the extent that the District will pay, during their contract, the difference between their per diem contract salary and their per diem jury or military pay for a period not to exceed one month.
- 14.3 All benefits to which an employee was entitled at the time of leave of absence commenced including unused, accrued sick leave will be restored to that employee upon return. Subject to Article 11.2, whenever an employee has worked more than one-half their contracted work year that employee shall be moved to the next step on the salary schedule. Any employee on an unpaid leave may opt to continue, at his/her expense, benefits under Article 12 of the Agreement.

ARTICLE 15 Grievance Procedure

- 15.1 It is the intent of the parties that grievances be settled at the lowest step possible. Both parties agree that these proceedings will be kept as informal and confidential as may be appropriate at any level of the procedure.
- Nothing contained in this Article shall diminish the right of any employee covered hereunder to present his/her own grievance to the Board, provided that the resolution is not inconsistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. If an employee declines representation by the Union, he/she shall do so in writing.

15.3 A grievance is a complaint by an employee, group of employees, or the Union that there has been a violation or misinterpretation of any provision of this Agreement.

Statement of Grievance

- 15.4 Each formal statement of a grievance must contain the question(s) at issue, a statement of facts, and the article(s) of this Agreement which allegedly is (are) being violated, the relief requested, the name of the authorized Union Representative, and the signature of the aggrieved party(s).
- 15.5 All grievances beyond the school level must be transmitted by U.S. postal service, certified mail, return receipt requested or hand delivered also with a receipt signed by the receiver.
- 15.6 Hearings held under this procedure shall be conducted at a time and place which affords reasonable opportunity for all persons (including witnesses) who are required to attend. If an employee is required to participate in any discussion, conference, or hearing related to a grievance during the employee's workday; the employee shall suffer no loss of pay.
- 15.7 The parties may upon written mutual agreement extend all deadlines.
- Upon the failure of the board to meet the time limits as prescribed in the Article, the grievance shall be advanced to the next higher level. Failure at any level of the procedure to appeal the grievance to the next level within the specified time limits shall be deemed to be acceptance of the decision rendered at that level.
- 15.9 As used herein, "days" shall mean school days during the school year. During the summer or other vacations, "days" shall mean Monday through Friday, excluding holidays.

Grievance Procedure

15.10 Within twenty (20) days of the alleged violation or the grievant's knowledge of said violation, the grievant(s) and his/her representative shall submit in writing a formal statement of the complaint to the grievant's immediate supervisor. The supervisor, upon receipt of the complaint, shall hold a meeting within five (5) days. The Supervisor shall give his/her answer within five (5) days of the meeting.

15.11 Step 1

If the grievant(s) is not satisfied with the decision rendered at the informal step, he/she shall appeal the grievance in writing with the Superintendent within ten (10) days. Upon receipt of the grievance, the Superintendent shall hold a meeting with the grievant(s) within ten (10)

days. The Superintendent or his/her designee shall provide the grievant(s) and the Union a written disposition of the decision within ten (10) days of the Step 1 meeting.

15.12 Step 2

If the grievant(s) is not satisfied with the decision rendered at Step 1, he/she may appeal the grievance to the Board within ten (10) days. Upon receiving the appeal, the Board shall hold a meeting within ten (10) days. The Board shall render a written decision within ten (10) days of the hearing.

15.13 Step 3

If not satisfied with the decision rendered by the Board at Step 2, the matter may be appealed to arbitration by the Union or the grievant within ten (10) days of the step 2 decision. If the Board and the Union are unable to mutually agree to an arbitrator, the parties may apply to the NH Public Employee Labor Relations Board to name an arbitrator under its rules and procedures. The decision of the arbitrator shall be binding upon the parties. The arbitrator shall not have the power to add to, subtract from, or modify any provisions of this Agreement.

The expense and salary incident to the service of the arbitrator shall be shared equally by the Board and the grievant.

- 15.14 The parties agree that employees covered by this Agreement shall enjoy freedom from restraint, interference, coercion, discrimination, or reprisal in presenting or appealing a grievance.
- 15.15 All documents relating to a grievance shall be filed separately from the employee's personnel file.

ARTICLE 16 Seniority and Reduction in Force

- 16.1 An employee's seniority date shall be the date of hire (first day worked) in any bargaining unit position. The seniority date shall be adjusted for uncompensated absences of six (6) months or more. Each year on or about December 1st the District shall post a seniority list and provide a copy to the Union. Any objections to the seniority list shall be made within thirty (30) days of the posting or shall be deemed waived. Ties in seniority shall be decided by lottery. A break in service of less than two (2) years and a day, provided the break in service was an approved leave of absence with a stated intention to return on an approximate date, shall not cause an employee to lose seniority prior to the break in service.
- Whenever it becomes necessary to decrease the number of the bargaining unit or eliminate a position or program, the Board will lay off in the order of seniority within classification and retain the most senior employee provided he/she is qualified for the position and provided all employees

within the classification have received "Meets Expectations" or "Exceeds Expectations" on their most recent performance evaluation. If any employee within the classification has received two consecutive annual evaluations with any ranking of "Needs Improvement", that employee shall be laid off first. An employee selected for layoff because of a "Needs Improvement" rating will not be entitled to recall under 16.3.

Classifications for purposes of this section are as follows:

- 1) custodian, 2) para-educator, 3) food service, 4) office manager,
- 5) secretary/receptionist, and 6) behavior planning supervisor.
- Recall of employees in the bargaining unit who are laid off shall be made on the basis of greatest seniority within classification. An employee laid off may be offered any vacant position for which he/she is qualified within his/her classification. The right to recall shall terminate 15 months following the last date of work.
- 16.4 Retention of Seniority: An employee who is laid off and recalled within 15 months of the date of layoff shall regain the seniority he/she had before he/she was laid off.

ARTICLE 17 Conformity to Law and Savings Clause

17.1 If any article or part of this Agreement is held to be invalid by operation of law, the remainder of the Agreement shall not be affected and the parties shall enter into negotiations for the purpose of arriving at a mutually satisfactory replacement for the invalid article or part, if possible.

ARTICLE 18 Duration

The provisions of this Agreement will be in effect from July 1, 2022 until June 30, 2024. Either party to this Agreement may initiate negotiations for a successor Agreement by notifying the other no later than September 1, 2023.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this AGREEMENT on this date.

Barnstead School Board	Barnstead Educational Support Staff
	AFT-NH, AFT Local #6332, AFL-CIO
	$\left(\begin{array}{c} \lambda \\ \lambda \end{array}\right)$
Listo Alkin	Summe Hule
	4/13/33
Dated: 3 29 2022	Dated: $\frac{1}{\sqrt{\alpha}}$
The state of the s	·

SIDEBAR

The parties agree that Employee XXXXX who works more days than a Category II employee and has done so for a number of years shall continue to receive health insurance benefits and district premium contributions in the same amounts as a Category I employee as reflected in the 2020 Memorandum of understanding. This employee shall also continue to receive three (3) personal days. This is not precedent setting for other employees.

APPENDIX A Dues Deduction Authorization

Effective with the date of the collective bargaining agreement, I hereby request and authorize you to deduct union dues in the amount established by the Barnstead Educational Support Team, AFT Local #6332, AFT-NH, AFL-CIO in equal gross installments. The amount shall be paid to the TREASURER of the Barnstead Educational Support Staff, AFT Local #6332, AFT-NH, AFL-CIO and represents payment for my union dues. I may terminate deductions between June 1st and June 30th of any year or by termination of my employment.

NAME (print)	DATE:	
ADDRESS:	 ZIPCODE	
HOME PHONE:	 	
POSITION:		
SCHOOL:		
EMAIL:		
SIGNATURE:	DATE:	
DIGITIFIC TED	 	

Please return this form to the BEST Treasurer.

APPENDIX B NOTICE OF INTENT TO RE-EMPLOY AND CONTRACT

DATE: (On or before June 1st)					
Dear:					
This letter is to be considered as your contract and intent to return to your position as (XXXXX) at (XXXX school) for the (XXXXXX) school year. You are assigned as follows: (grade level, and case manager, if you are assigned to a particular child, you will receive a separate confidential letter advising you of your assignment.					
Your supervisor for the 200X-200X school year is This supervisor shall oversee your work and will conduct your formal evaluation and may obtain feedback from your assigned teacher(s), case manager(s), and/or Building Administrators.					
Please note that failure to return this signed notice to the Office of the Superintendent on or before June 15 th will place your position as vacant. Your position will not be held and your insurance benefits will terminate effective July 1 st .					
You will become eligible for health insurance on					
The District pays insurance premiums for July and August in June, therefore if you are signing that you will be returning to work and decide to resign prior to the beginning of the (XXXXX) school year, you will be held responsible to reimburse the School District for all insurance benefits paid. This requirement can be waived at the sole discretion of the Superintendent of Schools and the School Board for exigent circumstances.					
Sincerely, Superintendent of Schools					
I will be returning to my position as (XXXXX) at the (XXXXX) school for the (XXXXX) school year.					
Signature of Employee					
I have decided not to return to my position as (XXXX) at the (XXXX) school for the (XXXX-XXXX) school year.					
Signature of Employee					

APPENDIX B-1 CONFIDENTIAL NOTICE OF 1 ON 1 ASSIGNMENT

Date:	
Employee:	
Subject to change due to student need, you will be assigned for the 20	O school year
as a 1 on 1 para-educator working with:(in	sert student name).
By signing below, you are acknowledging receipt of this notice and armaintain the confidentiality of all student information as required by Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) and the Individuals with Disabilities I copy of this notice signed by you, must be returned to the Office of the before June 15.	the Family Educational Education Act (IDEA). A
Employee Signature	Date
This Notice shall constitute a student record and shall not be subject to	o disclosure pursuant to

RSA 91-A:5, III.

BEST Wage Scale - 2022-2023 and 2023-2024

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
	1-3	4-5	6-7	8-9	10-11	12-13	14	15	16	17
Food Service, Para 1, Secretary/Receptionist	\$13.50	\$13.90	\$14.30	\$14.67	\$15.04	\$15.41	\$15.78	\$16.15	\$16.52	\$16.89
Custodian, Cook, Para 2, Admin Asst.	\$14.25	\$14.65	\$15.05	\$15.42	\$15.79	\$16.16	\$16.53	\$16.90	\$17.27	\$17.64
Office Manager	\$14.90	\$15.30	\$15.70	\$16.07	\$16.44	\$16.81	\$17.18	\$17.55	\$17.92	\$18.29

For initial 2022-2023 placement, any employee with more than 17 years' credited experience will receive 2% for each year above 17. Any employee whose 2022-2023 placement on the wage scale would be lower than their 2021-2022 wage will instead receive a 3% wage adjustment over 2021-2022.

2022-2023 placement supercedes and replaces all previous step placement.

2023-24 placement – based on previous year placement only.

All tracks

Steps 1-9 advance one step on same wage scale

Step 10+ adjust wage 3%

2022-2023 2023-2024 2.75% increase 2.75% increase

Behavior Planning Supervisor to base salary to base salary

Appendix D

Barnstead School District And Barnstead Educational Support Staff

Support Staff Performance Evaluation Plan



Performance Evaluation Plan

POSITION STATEMENT

The primary function of an evaluation is employee development. When used effectively, the performance evaluation can provide accurate and timely feedback on past performance, significantly enhance employee performance and satisfaction, and offer feedback to employees on how to improve. These evaluations support and provide documentation for personnel actions.

The purpose of the performance evaluation is to achieve the following objectives:

- To encourage open and on-going communication between supervisors and employees.
- To identify employees' strengths and developmental needs for their current (and future) positions and assignments.
- To provide timely and accurate feedback to employees concerning job performance in relation to the established job descriptions.
- To provide a fair and consistent method for evaluating performance.

Job descriptions are approved and revised as necessary by the Barnstead School Board after consultation with the Union.

The evaluation plan is comprised of three (3) tracks that differentiate among newly hired employees, continuing contract employees and those support staff in need of assistance and/or improvement.

The basis of the system is as follows:

- **Track 1**: First year employees who will receive more frequent observation and evaluation as determined by the administration;
- <u>Track 2</u>: Continuing contract employees who have received a satisfactory evaluation in the preceding year and will receive annual evaluations;
- <u>Track 3</u>: Employees who have been identified as in need of improvement and assistance and have experienced difficulty in meeting the requirements of their job and who will receive more frequent evaluation based on their improvement plan.

EVALUATION PROCESS

1. <u>Dissemination of the Plan</u>

- All employees will be provided with a copy of the evaluation plan and their job description.
- New employees will receive a copy of the Performance Evaluation Plan and job description upon hiring.
- Employees will receive a written identification of their immediate supervisor and evaluator upon hire or with their intent to re-employ.

<u>Note</u>: Immediate supervisors and/or evaluators may be subject to change during the contracted year; employees will be notified in writing regarding the change of supervisor.

2. Process for Completing the Evaluation

- Formal evaluations shall be completed on or before May 1st of each year. The evaluator shall schedule a meeting with the employee to discuss the evaluation, the employee's professional development and the employee's current assignment as well as possible assignment for the upcoming year. Track 3 employees shall have an additional meeting scheduled on or before September 30th in order to review the employee's improvement plan and performance issues.
- Formal evaluations for para-educators shall be based on at least one (1) classroom observation per year by the evaluator.
- <u>Track 1</u> employees shall be evaluated at least once within the first sixty (60) days of employment. During the first year of employment, Track 1 para-educators may receive more frequent classroom observations and evaluations, as determined by the evaluator, prior to a formal evaluation. Other Track 1 employees may also receive more frequent evaluations as determined by the evaluator.
- <u>Track 2</u> employees shall be observed at least once annually. If the administrator determines there are concerns with an employee during the school year, the employee shall be notified in writing of the concerns and the recommendations to improve. Notification of such concerns may trigger additional evaluations or observations.
- <u>Track 3</u> para-educators shall be observed in the classroom at least once during the school year, or on such frequency as may be determined in the employee's improvement plan. A mid-year evaluation shall be completed on or before February 1st for all Track 3 employees which shall include an assessment of an employee's progress on the improvement plan.

- A post-observation meeting will be held between the evaluator and the employee within a reasonable time period after an observation. If any concerns are cited in the observation, another observation will be conducted by the evaluator prior to the next formal evaluation.
- The evaluator may gather input from personnel in daily contact with the employee. Feedback which addresses an area of concern shall be addressed with the employee by the evaluator in a reasonable time after learning of such concerns. All feedback utilized as the basis for an evaluation shall be attributable to the person providing the input. Anonymous reports shall not be used in an evaluation.

3. Evaluation Form

Evaluation and observation forms to be utilized by the Administration in any given contract year shall be provided to Union on or before June 1st of the preceding year. The Union and Administration shall make a good faith effort to address concerns about the form utilized. The Administration shall conduct evaluations on a form which contains the following components:

A. <u>Identifying Information</u>

The top of the form shall include information required for identification: name of employee, position, current assignment, track number and school year covered by the evaluation. The employee's job description shall be attached to the evaluation form.

B. Evaluation Standards

Three levels of performance are defined:

- **E** Exceeds Expectations (Performs at a level above expectations)
- **M** Meets Expectations (Performs at a level that meets expectations)
- **NI** Needs Improvement (Performs at a level below expectations)

C. Performance Indicators

Every job category contains essential performance responsibilities listed as key indicators. Employees shall be evaluated based on their essential responsibilities as contained in the job descriptions and specific assignment. Specific comments will be provided on the forms if an employee (E) Exceeds Expectations or (NI) Needs Improvement.

D. Evaluator's Summative Comments

The supervisor performing the evaluation completes this section. Its purpose is to explain and clarify the employee's overall performance. The summary is an

opportunity to note the employee's awards and accomplishments and to note any concerns.

E. Plan for Growth

In this section, the supervisor evaluates potential for professional growth and other plans and actions as suggested by the evaluation. If an **NI** is indicated, this section must address a plan to improve the employee's performance. The employee's input for an improvement plan shall be solicited. An improvement plan shall provide specific timeframes for expectations regarding improvement in designated areas.

F. Employee's Response

The employee can write his/her comments on the evaluation or attach a separate sheet. If an employee believes they have been unfairly evaluated, the employee may request a meeting with the principal and/or superintendent to discuss the evaluation.